Capsule Summary of 165 Duke of Gloucester Street (AA-1337)

Built in the period 1905-1908, the house at 165 Duke of Gloucester Street was part of a large tract
of land that was associated with the 18th century property at 139 Market Street. In 1820, this part
of the large tract of land was subdivided and several buildings were erected on the individual lots
during the 19th century. At that time, the lot on which the present house at 165 Duke of Gloucester
Street sits, was occupied by a frame dwelli;lg. Tﬁis dwelling was demolished between 1897 and 1903
and the present house built on the lot between 1905 and 1908. The present house is currently owned

by the First Presbyterian Church at 175 Duke of Gloucester Street.

Built as a single-family residence, the side-p_assage frame house is designed in a colonial craftsman
manner. Facing east on Duke of Gloucester Street, the house stands two-and-one-half-stories in
height. It is set upon a raised, brick foundation, and its walls, originally sheathed with weatherboards,
are now covered with asbestos shingles. The gable roof, covered with asphalt shingles, features two,
single dormers and a projecting brick chimney. A single-story porch extends across the front of the

house, while a two-story rear ell projects off the original back wall.

The house provides information into the physical and social development of this area of Annapolis

and is an important contributor to the Annapolis Historic District.
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1. Name of Property

historic name
other names 165 Duke of Gloucester Street

2. Location

street & number 165 Duke of Gloucester not for publication ___
city or town Annapolis : vicinity __
state _Maryland code county code ___

zip code _21401

3. State/Federal Agency Certification N/A

4. National Park Service Certification N/A

5. Classification

ownership of Property (Check all that apply)
X private

public-local

public-State

public-Federal

|

Category of Property (Check only one box)
X building(s)

district

site

structure

object

Number of Resources within Property
Contributing Noncontributing

1 buildings
sites
structures
objects

1 Total

Is this property listed in the National Register?

Yes _X Name of Listing _Annapolis Historic District
No
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6. Function or Use
Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions)
Cat: Domestic Sub: Single Dwelling

Current Functions (Enter categories from instructions)
Cat: Church Related Sub: Parsonage

7. Description

Architectural Classification (Enter categories from instructions)
Colonial Craftsman

Materials (Enter categories from instructions)
foundation Brick
roof Asphalt Shingles
walls Asbestos Shingles

other

Narrative Description (Describe the historic and current condition
of the property.) See Continuation Sheet No. _7-1
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria (Mark "x" in one or more
boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National
Register 1listing)

A

Property is associated with events that have made a
significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components 1lack
individual distinction.

Property has yielded, or is 1likely to yield
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations (Mark "X" in all the boxes that apply.)

X

A

@ = B3 O O w

owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

removed from its original location.

a birthplace or a grave.

a cemetery.

a reconstructed building, object,or structure.
a commemorative property.

less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.
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Areas of Significance (Enter categories from instructions)
Archeology
Architecture

Period of Significance 1905-1908

Significant Dates 1905-1908

Significant Person (Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

Cultural Affiliation

Architect/Builder unknown

Narrative Statement of Significance (Explain the significance of
the property.) See Continuation Sheet No. _8-1
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9. Major Bibliographical References

(Cite the books, articles, legal records, and other sources used in
preparing this form.)

Articles, Books, Published and Unpublished Sources

Anderson, Elizabeth B. Annapolis: A Walk Through History.
Centreville, MD: Tidewater Publishers, 1984.

Annapolis Historic District. National Register of Historic Places
Inventory-Nomination Form. 1984.

Anne Arundel County Assessment Records. 1904-1910. Maryland State
Archives. Record Group C35.

Anne Arundel County Land Records. Anne Arundel County Courthouse
and Maryland State Archives, Annapolis, Maryland.

McWilliams, Jane. "Historical Title Search and Documentation, 163
Duke of Gloucester Street, Annapolis, Maryland." Prepared for Port
of Annapolis, February 1991.

The Maryland Comprehensive Historic Preservation Plan. Maryland

Historical Trust. Department of Economic and Community
Development, June 1986.

Papenfuse, Edward. "Southern Urban Society after the Revolution:
Annapolis, Maryland, 1782-1786." Final Report for NEH Grant #H69-
0-178, Historic Annapolis Foundation, 1969.

Record Group 29 "Records of the Bureau of the Census." 1900, 1910
and 1920 Census; Anne Arundel County, Maryland.

Wright, Russell. "Historic Sites Survey Field Sheets, Individual
Structure Survey Forms," Historic Annapolis Foundation, 1983.

Maps and Drawings

Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps, 1885, 1891, 1896, 1897, 1903, 1908,
1913, 1921, 1930, 1954.
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10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property _2,569 square feet

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the
property.) : -

The property at 165 Duke of Gloucester Street occupies Parcel 204
on Tax Map 32 of Annapolis.

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.)

Parcel 204 has been associated with the property since before the
construction of the present house on the site between 1905-1908.

11. Form Prepared By

name/title _Kim Willians

organization _Traceries date _April 15, 1993
street & number 1606 20th St., N.W. telephone (202) 232-6870
city or town _Washington, D.C. state zip code 20009

12. Property Owner

name First Presbyterian Church of Annapolis
street & number 175 Duke of Gloucester St telephone (410) 267-8705
city or town Annapolis state MD zip code 21401
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Located on the western side of the street, the building at 165 Duke
of Gloucester Street is one of several one-time residential
buildings that are sandwiched between the First Presbyterian Church
at the corner of Duke of Gloucester and Conduit Streets and the
former Independent Fire Company No. 2 firehouse at the corner of
Duke of Gloucester and Market Streets. Constructed between 1905
and 1908, the present house on the property replaced an early 19th
century dwelling that stood from at least 1820 until the period
1897-1903.

Built as a single-family residence, the house is a freestanding
structure that is separated from its neighbor to the north at 167
Duke of Gloucester by a six-foot passageway, and from the Maynard-
Burgess house on the south by a narrow, three-foot passageway. The
side-passage frame house faces east on Duke of Gloucester Street
and stands two-and-one--half-stories in height. It is set upon a
raised, brick foundation, and its walls, originally sheathed with
weatherboards, are now covered with asbestos shingles. The gable
roof, covered with asphalt shingles, features two, single dormers
and a projecting brick chimney. A single-story porch extends
across the front of the house, while a two-story rear ell projects
off the original back wall. The house is designed in a colonial
craftsman manner in the sense that it offers the massing and
symmetry characteristic of Colonial Revival architecture, but has
architectural details, such as the multi-paned windows that are
associated with the craftsman movement.

The front (east) elevation of the house is three bays wide. The
first floor consists of a single door with 4-paned sidelights and
a large 2/2 window with flanking 2/2 side lights. Both the door
and the central window are surmounted by diamond paned transoms.
The second floor is composed of three, single 2/2 windows, while
two pedimented dormers with 2/2 windows project from the gable roof
above. Four, large wood brackets support the cornice and create a
visual separation between the second story and attic level. The
hipped roof porch, which extends across the first floor of the
front of the house, is set upon a raised brick foundation and is
supported by wrought iron replacement columns. The hipped roof is
covered with standing seam metal.

The south elevation faces the narrow path which separates this
house from the Maynard-Burgess House next door. The undecorated
wall surface is broken, on the first and second floors, by two 2/2
windows towards the rear of the house and a casement window towards
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the front. No openings are located in the attic level of this end
gable.

The north elevation has more fenestration. Four 2/2 windows are
evenly spaced across this side elevation on both the first and
second floors, while two, 2/2 windows are found in the attic level.
All of these windows have flat architrave surrounds with a slight

projecting cornice.

The rear (west) elevation of the house is today defined by a two-
story shed roof wing that abuts the original rear wall of the
house. Visible above this wing, is a centrally projecting gable
off of the original house block. A single entrance door is located
within a recessed porch located at the northeast corner. A single
window is located next to the door on this level, while two 2/2
windows pierce the second floor above. Each of these windows is
surrounded by the same flat architrave with a slight projecting
cornice that is found on the north elevation windows. Although
these windows are located in a rear extension, the windows
themselves may have been salvaged from the original back wall.

The house extends approximately 2/3 the depth of the 81-foot lot,
leaving a small yard at the rear. This yard is partially laid in
brick, is surrounded on the sides by planting beds and is separated
from the Maynard Burgess house property by a chain-link fence.

The interior of the house consists of a relatively unaltered side-
passage, double-pile plan house. The entry door opens directly
onto the hall that features a straight-flight stair located against
the south side wall and openings into the front and rear parlors on
the north side of the house. The straight-flight stair is
articulated by two turned balusters per tread and a wood rail with
torus molding typical of the period. Ghosting along the side walls
indicates that stringer brackets may have existed and have since
been removed. New, 2-1/2-inch-wide floor boards run the width of
the house across the hall, front and rear parlor rooms of this
first floor.

The front parlor, or living room, opens off the hall directly
across from the stairs. The door into this room from the hall is
a hollow wood replacement door surrounded by original bulls eye
molding. The principal design features in this room are the large
window with side lights and diamond-paned transom on center of the
front wall and surrounded by bulls eye molding, and a 20th century
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mantel against the back wall having recalling Greek Revival design.
Attenuated columns support the undecorated frieze and mantel shelf,
and rusticated plaster ornaments the fireplace face. Recently
added, built-in book shelves flank the central fireplace. The
windows on the side wall are similarly surrounded by bulls eye

molding.

The rear parlor, or dining room, is located behind the front room
and opens off of the hall through a large, double opening that has
been enlarged from its original size. This room has been further
altered by the addition of closets against the east wall where the
fireplace would have opened. Only the windows and their bulls eye
molding survive from the original room.

The hall continues back.past the rear parlor to the kitchen wing at
the rear. The kitchen, which has been extended slightly by the
addition of the rear ell, is equipped with all new cabinetry and
appliances.

The second floor of the house is laid out into a series of three
rooms and a bathroom. Here, original 3-1/2-inch wide floor boards
are found to run the length of the house, as opposed to the width
- of the house as on the first floor. The bathroom is located at the
end of the hall, at the top of the stairs and features the original
black and white tile. The bedrooms appear to be laid out in their
original configuration and still have their original bulls eye
moldings around the doors and windows.

The third floor or attic level is reached by another straight
flight stair identical to the one ascending from the first floor.
The stair leads up to a narrow hall which terminates at the end in
one of the two dormer windows and opens onto two rooms. The front
rooms are lit by the second of the two dormer windows as well as
one of the two north gable end windows. The back room is 1lit only
by the second of the gable end windows. All of the doors and
windows at this level are surrounded by the bulls eye molding found
on the first and second floors. Like the second floor, the attic
level still has its original 3-1/2-inch floor boards.

The basement is reached from the first floor by stairs located
under the hall staircase. It is a full basement which reveals the
original brick floors, brick walls and brick piers.
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Built in the period 1905-1908, the house at 165 Duke of Gloucester
Street was part of a large tract of land that was associated with
the 18th century property at 139 Market Street. 1In 1820, this part
of the large tract of land was subdivided and several buildings
were erected on the individual lots during the 19th century. At
that time, the 1lot on which the present house at 165 Duke of
Gloucester Street sits, was occupied by a frame dwelling. This
dwelling was demolished between 1897 and 1903 and the present house
built on the lot between 1905 and 1908. Because the older house
was located towards the rear of the current lot, archaeological
investigation of the site could potentially yield evidence of past
occupation of the site. The present house is currently owned by
the First Presbyterian Church at 175 Duke of Gloucester Street and
is occupied by Reverend Elizabeth Hewitt.

The land upon which the house sits was originally part of Lot 33 on
the Stoddert Map of 1714 and owned at that time by Charles Carroll.
In 1762, Lot 33, along with adjacent Lot 34 and 1/2 Lot 35 came
into the possession of John Hall who held the land as one large
tract of land. Hall was a prominent attorney from a noted Anne
Arundel County family, who lived at the 18th century house located
at 139 Market Street.

Following John Hall’s death, the property remained in the Hall
family until 1809 when it was sold to James H. Weems. Within a
year, Weems sold the property, in its entirety, to Maynadier, who
later sold the land to insolvent debtor, George Medkiff.! In 1820,
the judge presiding over the Medkiff case appointed Nicholas
Brewer, Jr. trustee, to sell the real and personal property of
Medkiff for the benefit of his creditors.?

At that time, Medkiff’s property was divided, breaking apart the
large tract of land consisting of Stoddert Lots 33, 34 and 1/2 35
that had been consolidated by John Hall in 1809. A plat prepared
by John Duvall, surveyor, July 1820 shows that part of Lot 33 was
divided into a series of 10 lots along Duke of Gloucester Street,
eight with 25-foot frontages and two with 31.5-foot frontages. The

! No deed between Maynadier and George Medkiff is recorded for this
property. However, later deeds make reference to Medkiff’'s ownership of the
land, as do the Anne Arundel County Court Papers, 1815-1839, Medkiff Insolvency
Case.

? Anne Arundel County Court Papers, 1815-1839, Medkiff Insolvency Case.
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property at 165 Duke of Gloucester Street sits on the parcel of
land designated Lot 8 which has a 25-foot frontage on Duke of
Gloucester Street and extends back 81 feet. All ten of these lots
were advertised for sale in the Maryland Gazette on June 1, 1820
and were sold by Brewer between 1820 and 1838.

Lot 8 was sold by Brewer "with a small house on it" to John Tydings
in June 1820 for $350.00.% Following Tydings’ death in 1833, the
property was sold at public auction to Somerville Pinkney. The
house and lot changed hands twice before being purchased, in 1843,
by James Iglehart, who also owned the Maynard-Burgess property next
door. Iglehart, a merchant and entrepreneur, owned significant
property in Annapolis and eventually became one of the city’s
wealthiest men.’ Iglehart purchased Lot 8 with "buildings and
improvements."® Three years later, in 1846, Iglehart sold the
property to Thomas Bryan for $450.00. The census records for
Annapolis indicate that the R.T. Bryan family lived at the house at
163 Duke of Gloucester Street in 1850.

Thomas Bryan retained ownership of the property until 1888, when
they sold it to Samuel R. Frazier for $600.00.7 Frazier’s
ownership of a lot and building is confirmed by the assessment
records for Annapolis, which assess Frazier, in 1889, for a lot, 25
feet by 81 feet on Duke of Gloucester and one frame house. The
property was valued at $675.00. Frazier held onto the property
from 1888 until 1904 when he sold it to John R. Sullivan. Before
selling it, however, Frazier demolished the dwelling on the site
sometime between 1897 and 1903. The Sanborn Maps from 1885, 1891

3 Jane McWilliams, "Historical Title Search and Documentation 163 Duke of
Gloucester Street, Annapolis, Maryland." Prepared for Port of Annapolis, Inc.
February 1991.

‘Liber WSG 15 Folio 210.

® Biography of James Iglehart in appendix to Jane McWilliams, “Historical
Title Search and Documentation, 163 Duke of Gloucester Street, Annapolis,
Maryland,” February 1991.

¢ anne Arundel County Land Records, Liber JHN 2 Folio 116.

? Liber sH 33 Folio 621.
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and 1897 show this frame dwelling as being 1-1/2-stories in height
and being set back approximately 40 feet from Duke of Gloucester
Street. The 1903 Sanborn Map shows the property as a vacant lot.

Between 1905 and 1908, Sullivan built the present dwelling on the
site.® sullivan, listed as a Superintendent of Public Buildings,
lived at the house in 1910 with his wife, son and three boarders.
In 1920, Sullivan was listed as a Justice of the Peace who lived in
the house with his sister-in-law.’

John Sullivan’s will in 1920 left the property to his son William,
who is "subject and charged with a home and support of my sister-
in-law, Rebecca Wilson as long as she lives or remains unmarried to
make her home."'?

In 1930, William Sullivan and Rebecca Wilson sold the property to
the Columbus Club of Annapolis. The property changed hands again
before it was sold, in 1955 to the trustees of the First
Presbyterian Church in the City of Annapolis. The property is
currently owned by the church and 1is the home of Reverend,
Elizabeth Hewitt.

* Assessment Records indicate John R. Sullivan as owning a lot 81 feet by
25 feet on Duke of Gloucester Street with no house on the lot. The 1908 Sanborn
Map indicates that the present house was built by that time.

® U.s. Census Records, Anne Arundel County, 1910 and 1920.

1 riber FSR 64 Folio 252.
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Historic Period Theme:

Geographic Organization:

Chronological/Developmental

Resource Type(s):

Architecture, Landscape Architecture
and Community Planning;

Western Shore

Period: Agricultural-Industrial
Transition, 1815-1870

Industrial/Urban
Dominance 1870-1930

Archeological Site
. Standing Structure
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Chain of Title for 165 Duke of Gloucester Street:

1833:

1843:

1847:

1888:

1904:

1930:

1945:

1955:

Somerville Pinkney, Trustee, to John Miller
Liber WSG 23 Folio 596
*Formal conveyance of title is in 1839

Benjamin Pindle, Sheriff to James Iglehart

Liber WSG 27 Folio 142

*This transaction is the result of public sale of John
Miller and Adam Miller’s land

James Iglehart to Thomas Bryan
Liber JHN 2 Folio 116

Mary E. Bryan, widow of Thomas Bryan and Mariah C. Bryan,
daughter to Samuel R. Frazier
Liber SH 33 Einlio 621

Samuel R. and Maggie R. Frazier to John R. and Annie M.
Sullivan
Liber GW 37 Folio 401

William G. and Jewel Sullivan and Rebecca Wilson, son and
sister-in-law of John R. Sullivan, to Columbus Club of
Annapolis

Liber FSR 64 Folio 252

Columbus Club of Annapolis to Chris S. and Evanthia
Psomadakis
Liber JHH 327 Folio 66

Chris S. and Evanthia Psomadakis to Trustees of the First
Presbyterian Church in the City of Annapolis in
connection with the General Assembly of the Presbyterian
Church in the USA ,
Liber JHH 912 Folio 302
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MARYLAND HISTORICAL TRUST
21 STATE CIRCLE

SHAW HOUSE
ANNAPOLIS, MARYLAND 21401
HISTORIC SITES SURVEY FIELD SHEET
Individual Structure Survey Form

SURVEY NUMBER: AA ‘33.7

)

NEGATIVE FILE NUMBER:

UTM REFERENCES:
Zone/Easting/Northing

U.S.G.S. QUAD. MAP:

PRESENT FORMAL NAME:

COUNTY: Anne Arundel

TOWN: Annapolis

ORIGINAL FORMAL NAME:

LOCATION: 165 pyke of Gloucester

PRESENT USE: 2F Res

ORIGINAL USE: 2F Res

COMMON NAME:

ARCHITECT/ENGINEER:

FUNCTIONAL TYPE: Res Map 32 Par 204

BUILDER/CONTRACTOR:

OWNER: Trustees, First Presbyterian Church

PHYSICAL CONDITION OF STRUCTURE:

ADDRESS: 144 Conduit Street Excellent ( ) Good (X)
Annapolis, MD 2140] Fair () Poor: ( )
ACCESSIBILITY TO PUBLIC: THEME:

Yes (X No () Restricted () STYLE: Vernacular (Annapolis FederaT)
LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE: (::) DATE BUILT: 1909-1913
Local ( State ( ) National ( )

GENERAL DESCRIPTION:
Structural System
1. Foundation:
2. Wall Structure
A. Wood Frame:
B. Wood Bearing Masonry:
€. Iron( ) D. Steel( ) E.
3. Wall Covering:

Bonding Pattern:
4., Roof Structure
A. Truss:
B. Other:
5. Roof Covering:

6. Engineering Structure:
7. Other:

Appendages:
Wings ( )Other:

Roof Style:

Other:
Number of Stories: 2 1/2
Number of Bays: 3 x4
Approximate Dimensions:__ 25 x 50

Stone( )Brick(X)Concrete( )Concrete Block( )

Post and Beam( )Balloon(X)

Brick( )Stone( )Concrete( )Concrete Block( )
Other:

Clapboard( )Board and Batten( )Wood Shingle( )Shiplap( )

Novelty( )Stucco( )Sheet Metal( )Aluminum( )Asphalt Shingle( )

Brick Veneer( )Stone Veneer( ) Asbestos Shingle (X )

Other:

Wood(X)Iron( )Steel( )Concrete( )

Slate( )Wood Shingle( )Asphalt Shingle(X)Sheet Metal( )
Built Up( )Rolled( )Tile( )Other:

Porches(X) Towers( )Cupolas( )Dormers())Chimneys(X)Sheds( )Ells(X)

Gable(X)Hip( )Shed( )Flat( )Mansard( )Gambrel( )Jerkinhead( )
Saw Tooth( )With Monitor( WithBellcast( )With Parapet( )With False Front( )

Entrance Location: Left

THREAT TO STRUCTURE:
No Threat( X)Zoning( )Roads( )
Development( )Deterioration( )
Alteration ( )Other:

LOCAL ATTITUDES:
Positive( )Negative( )
Mixed( ) Other:




ADDITIONAL ARCHITECTURAL OR STRUCTURAL DESCRIPTION:

Heavy pedimented dormers, bracketed cornice, molded window and transom lit
door caps; triple window at first floor, columns removed at hipped roof porch,
replaced with wrought iron, stoop rebuilt, asbestos shingles.

RELATED STRUCTURES: (Describe)

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE:

Altered Vernacular Annapolis Federal with Neo-Classic aspirations as expressed

in dormers and triple window. Contributes to streetscape despite poor alterations
at porch.

REFERENCES:

MAP: (Indicate North In Circle) SURROUNDING ENVIRONMENT:

Open Lane( )Woodland( )Scattered Buildings( )
Moderately Built Up( )Densely-Built Up(
Residential( )Commercial( )

Agricultural( )Industrial( )

Roadside Strip Development ( )

Other:

RECORDED BY:
Russell Wright

ORGANIZATION: ]
Historic Annapolis, Inc

DATE RECORDED: 9 /?&3 A
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165 Duke of Gl M]SZ}
Annapolis, Anne Arundel County

Russell Wright July, 1982
Maryland Historical Trust,
Annapolis, Maryland
&_J_Elevation/camera facinggg



